IN THE IOWA SUPREME COURT

SUPREME COURT NO. 20-1037

THE ESTATE OF SUSAN FARRELL, by its administrator, JESSE FARRELL, and as Representative for the claims of JESSE FARRELL, individually, JESSE FARRELL, as next friend of R.F., a minor, PEGGY MASCHKE, individually, and STEPHEN MICHALSKI, individually,

Plaintiffs-Appellees,

v.

STATE OF IOWA; CITY OF WAUKEE, IOWA; and CITY OF WEST DES MOINES, IOWA,

Defendants-Appellants,

and

PETERSON CONTRACTORS, INC.; ROADS SAFE TRAFFIC SYSTEMS, INC.; VOLTMER ELECTRIC, INC.; PAR ELECTRICAL CONTRACTORS, INC.; MIDAMERICAN ENERGY COMPANY; and KIRKHAM, MICHAEL & ASSOCIATES, INC.,

Defendants.

I. PROCEDURAL LAW AND FACTS

It is necessary to address the court of appeals’ procedural and factual missteps before tackling its substantive-law errors. After reading the court of appeals’ decision, one would be left with at least three incorrect factual impressions. First, one would never know that this case involves the Government Defendants’ role as owners of an ongoing and unfinished Interchange construction project; that the Government Defendants, in their role as project owners, publicly opened the Interchange project (with the removal of barricades and signage, and the other actions it entails) while knowing their project and its contractually-required safety features were uncompleted and still

under construction; and that the Government Defendants kept their Interchange project open in its uncompleted state despite actual knowledge (based on, among other things, their receipt of multiple driver complaints) that doing so created confusing and dangerous conditions. All of these facts are alleged in and reasonably conceivable from the First Amended Petition, and they serve as fundamental and essential parts of Farrell's claims. Yet the court of appeals glossed over, ignored, and otherwise misstated them, and other crucial facts.

Second, the court of appeals' decision would cause one to believe that Farrell's First Amended Petition includes allegations of the alleged intoxicated state of Benjamin Beary and the alleged speed of his vehicle when it collided with Susan Farrell's police vehicle, and that Farrell alleges Beary (not the Government Defendants) was the sole cause of Susan Farrell's death. *Farrell*, 2021 WL 5458077, at *1 & n.4, *3-*4. None of these factual statements are found in the First Amended Petition, but instead were improperly alleged and inserted into the Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings by the Government Defendants. **District Court Docket, Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings pp. 1-2.** The district court correctly refused to consider these government-injected, unproven, and unalleged facts or any other alleged facts outside the First Amended Petition. **App. 314, n.1.** Undaunted, the Government Defendants asked the court of appeals to consider these same "facts," **Government Defendants' Final Brief pp. 27-28,** and the court of appeals obliged.

Third, the court of appeals' opinion would lead a person to understand Farrell's misfeasance claim as based on defective construction and design of a public road with the underlying complaint being that such defective construction and design failed to protect Susan Farrell from a drunk driver. *Farrell*, 2021 WL 5458077, at *1 (“[T]he Farrell family alleged that the . . . Interchange was unsafely designed and constructed.”); *id.* at *3 (““[T]he Farrell family argues the roadway design directly caused the accident. They contend the Governmental Parties should have protected Farrell from Beary’s actions by designing and constructing a safe Interchange, which they allege did not happen here.”); *id.* at *4 (“The Farrell family labels the affirmative act of constructing the ‘first-of-its-kind’ diverging-diamond Interchange without the proper safety protections as the misfeasance to be considered.”); *id.* (“[T]he petition frames the failure of the Governmental Parties as neglecting to protect a member of the general public from a third-party’s instrumentality of harm because of the Governmental Parties’ design and construction of the Interchange and the installation of safety markings and signage.”); *id.* (“[T]he Farrell family’s complaints depend upon a foreseeability determination that the design of the Interchange lead to the collision with the drunk driver.”). These straw man claims and theories are creations of the Government Defendants and the court of appeals, not Farrell.

As the First Amended Petition says and as Farrell has explicitly explained in the district court and appellate briefing, Farrell’s claims and theories, as

summarized, are that the Government Defendants, as owners of their ongoing and uncompleted Interchange construction project, failed to comply with their non-discretionary contractual duties, including but not limited to the duty to install contractually-required safety and design features on the Interchange, and, despite knowledge of the unfinished nature of these mandatory features of their Interchange project, they publicly and affirmatively opened¹ their ongoing and unfinished project. These affirmative acts of misfeasance created a causal chain of events that allowed Benjamin Beary to enter the unfinished and, therefore, dangerous Interchange project, access Interstate 80 in the wrong direction via the Interchange project's off-ramp, and collide with the police vehicle killing Officer Susan Farrell. These actual claims and theories are evident, not from the court of appeals' decision, but from the First Amended Petition and Farrell's district court and appellate briefing.

These court of appeals' factual errors were hardly harmless because it *admitted* that its (erroneous) recitation of facts and its (erroneous) transformation of Farrell's claims and theories, in conjunction with its newly announced

¹ The court of appeals asserted as fact that the Interchange had been opened "for years" prior to the accident. *Farrell*, 2021 WL 5458077, at *1. That assertion is *directly contrary* to the allegations in the First Amended Petition, which state that it had been opened for less than four months before the accident. **District Court Docket, First Amended Petition pp. 5-6 ¶¶36, 46-49.** This, along with the bevy of other fact-related errors committed by the court of appeals, makes its factual recitations unreliable thereby infecting and making unreliable its Doctrine analysis and ultimate decision.

instrumentality of harm test, served as the foundation for its decision. *Farrell*, 2021 WL 5458077, at *3 (“Here the instrumentality starts and ends with an intoxicated Beary driving on the wrong side of the road into Farrell’s vehicle, ultimately killing her. Unlike *Breese*, . . . third-party Beary’s behavior caused the death of Farrell.”). These prejudicial factual errors are particularly indefensible because of the procedural context in which they were committed: a motion for judgment on the pleadings based on an affirmative defense.

Motions for judgment on the pleadings (which are treated similarly to motions to dismiss for failure to state a claim) are disfavored. *Cutler v. Klass, Whicher & Mishne*, 473 N.W.2d 178, 181 (Iowa 1991) (“Both the filing and the sustaining [of motions to dismiss] are poor ideas.”); *Unertl v. Bezanson*, 414 N.W.2d 321, 324 (Iowa 1987); *Benskin, Inv. v. West Bank*, 952 N.W.2d 292, 296 (Iowa 2020). The disfavor is heightened when such a motion is based on an affirmative defense. *Harrison v. Allied Mut. Cas. Co.*, 113 N.W.2d 701, 731 (Iowa 1962) (“A motion to dismiss assumes the truth of facts well pleaded in the pleading attacked but is not a proper vehicle for the submission of affirmative defenses.”). The reason for the heightened disfavor is because a plaintiff can only “plead himself out of court by alleging facts that provide the [defendant] with a *bulletproof* defense. . . .” *Benskin*, 952 N.W.2d at 299 (citation omitted). The Doctrine is an affirmative defense, as the Government Defendants conceded by asserting the Doctrine as an affirmative defense in their Answers to the First

Amended Petition. *McFarlin*, 881 N.W.2d at 62 (“In *Adam*, we rejected the State’s public-duty *defense*. . . .”) (second italics added); *Chase v. City of Memphis*, 971 S.W.2d 380, 385 (Tenn. 1998); *Zander v. Condon*, 1999 WL 45241, at *1 n.1 (Wash. Ct. App. 1999); *Taylor v. City of Shreveport*, 653 So.2d 232, 235 (La. Ct. App. 1995). Therefore, the relevant question answered by the court of appeals should have been whether Farrell’s First Amended Petition provides the Government Defendants’ with a “bulletproof” defense based on the Doctrine.

To answer this question, at this stage of the case and in this procedural posture, the facts considered by the court of appeals should have been only those alleged in the First Amended Petition and those plaintiff-friendly ones that can reasonably be imagined from the First Amended Petition. *Smith v. Smith*, 513 N.W.2d 728, 730 (Iowa 1994) (“We uphold such a dismissal only if we can conclude that no state of facts is conceivable under which a plaintiff might show a right of recovery.”). It should not have considered any facts alleged by the Government Defendants, unless they were actually and explicitly found in the First Amended Petition. *Berger v. Gen. United Group, Inc.*, 268 N.W.2d 630, 634 (Iowa 1978) (“The motion may not sustain itself by its own allegations of fact not appearing in the challenged pleading. We have said such averments are no proper part of the motion and must be ignored.”) (citations omitted); *Stearns v. Stearns*, 187 N.W.2d 733, 734 (Iowa 1971) (“Perhaps we should say, as we did in *Harrison v. Allied Mutual Casualty Co.*, *supra*, that we cannot ‘sanction disregard of

proper methods in determining controverted facts’ even though such a course brings the case to an early conclusion.”); see *Stanton v. City of Des Moines*, 420 N.W.2d 480, 482 (Iowa 1988) (“If there are any material facts disputed in the pleadings, a judgment on the pleadings is not appropriate.”); *Kester v. Bruns*, 326 N.W.2d 279, 284 (Iowa 1982).

These standards and rules should virtually immunize a plaintiff’s claims against the government from a Doctrine-based dismissal at the pleading stage because they require the Petition to contain allegations which provide a *bulletproof* application of the Doctrine. Therefore, the answer to the only relevant question before the court of appeals—whether Farrell’s First Amended Petition provides the Government Defendants with a “bulletproof” defense based on the Doctrine—should have been answered with a resounding “No,” especially under Iowa’s notice-pleading rules, *Benskin*, 952 N.W.2d at 296 (“Iowa is a notice pleading state.”), where a plaintiff is not required to anticipate and plead around the Doctrine or any other potential affirmative defense. *Id.* at 302 n.3 (“Courts applying federal notice pleading standards recognize that . . . ‘complaints need not anticipate or meet potential affirmative defenses. . . .’”) (citation omitted); see *Breese*, 945 N.W.2d at 23.

Discussion of a couple conceivable sets of facts lay bare the court of appeals’ factual and procedural errors. What if the Government Defendants placed a blinking sign in the Interchange directing motorists to enter into the

Interchange project, continue down the off-ramp, and drive in the wrong direction on Interstate 80? What if the only means of exit from the Interchange project after entering it was the off-ramp that led motorists to the wrong side of Interstate 80? According to the court of appeals, the Doctrine would still apply to save the Government Defendants from liability. Whatever the current state of the Doctrine's law, it is not that.

Some might be tempted to ask, "Did either of those two conceivable sets of facts actually happen?" Such a question is not appropriate because, at this stage and in this procedural posture, the facts are what Farrell alleges in the First Amended Petition *and* those that reasonably can be conceived and imagined from those allegations. Is it conceivable that the Government Defendants could have placed such a blinking sign in the Interchange project? Or that they made the off-ramp the only available means to exit the Interchange project after entering it? The answer is "Yes" because it is not impossible for such acts to happen, and the allegations in the First Amended Petition do not provide a "bulletproof" defense against such a factual scenario.

II. THE LAW

The court of appeals erred on the substantive law too. Its main mistake was overruling this Court's precedent through creation of a new "instrumentality of harm" test that applies the Doctrine whenever a government-defendant alleges that a third-party "directly caused or inflicted" plaintiff's injuries. *Farrell*,

2021 WL 5458077, at *3 & *5. The new test overrules *Johnson*, *Breese*, *Fulps*, and their misfeasance/nonfeasance test, *Johnson*, 913 N.W.2d at 266-267 (“**G. Nonfeasance vs. Misfeasance. . .**”) (bold font in original); *Breese*, 945 N.W.2d at 19-20 (“In *Johnson*, we noted the distinction between nonfeasance and misfeasance. . . .”); *Fulps*, 956 N.W.2d at 475 (“We explained what we meant by the nonfeasance vs. misfeasance distinction in *Johnson* and *Breese*. . . .”), and it is in direct contravention of and overrules *Baker*, 120 N.W.2d at 505-506, and *Summy*, 708 N.W.2d 333, where this Court refused to apply the Doctrine despite third-parties “directly caus[ing] or inflict[ing]” plaintiffs’ injuries. Because *Summy* is a post-*Kolbe* case, it especially cannot be reconciled with the court of appeals’ new test where this Court held the Doctrine inapplicable in a claim against the government for injuries directly caused by a third-party golfer’s errant tee shot. *Id.*

The new test wreaks even more havoc than overruling this Court’s cases. It makes Iowa appellate courts causation-deciding juries *required* to resolve any causation dispute against a plaintiff whenever a government-defendant alleges that a third-party is involved in causing a plaintiff’s injuries. The court of appeals donned its jury hat in this very case and, without hearing a shred of evidence, decided, as a matter of law and directly contrary to the allegations in the First Amended Petition, that Benjamin Beary was the sole cause of Susan Farrell’s death. *Farrell*, 2021 WL 5458077, at *3. If left uncorrected, the new test will

eviscerate public citizens' sacrosanct jury-trial right whenever the government causes damage. *Miller v. Mathis*, 8 N.W.2d 744, 747 (Iowa 1943); *Susie v. Family Health Care of Siouxland, P.L.C.*, 942 N.W.2d 333, 345 (Iowa 2020) (Appel, J., dissenting). This Court, in *Baker*, expressly prohibited using the Doctrine in this way. 120 N.W.2d at 505-506 (“[I]here may be more than one proximate cause of any action and damage. . . . [W]here the evidence shows that an injury results from the negligence of two agencies, the question of proximate cause is peculiarly one for the jury.”) (citation omitted).

The court of appeals' new test is also unworkable, as the following hypothetical illustrates: (1) the government builds a concrete barrier in the middle of a road, without adequate lighting, signs, or paint markings to warn approaching drivers; (2) an adult allows a 12 year-old to drive the family car; (3) the car collides with the government's concrete barrier at ten miles per hour over the speed limit; (4) the car is missing one headlight because of a mechanic's negligent failure to install it; (5) the car's airbags do not deploy because they are defective; (6) the car's defective seatbelts tear on impact; and (7) experts testify that if either the seatbelts or airbags functioned properly, the child would have sustained no injuries. What is the “instrumentality of harm?” Are there more than one? There is no reasoned way for a court to decide such a thorny causation issue, but the court of appeals' new test would apply the Doctrine and dismiss the claims. This is nothing but judicial fiat. Causation disputes are better left to a

jury who can hear all the evidence and reach a reasoned decision, based on the evidence, through careful deliberations.

The irony in all of this is that the court of appeals justified its actions as mandated by *Fulps. Farrell*, 2021 WL 5458077, at *2, *3, & *5. This was a fundamental misreading of *Fulps*. The import of *Fulps* is that it *narrowed* the nonfeasance category thereby *narrowing* the Doctrine's application. 956 N.W.2d at 475 (“[W]ith only *Johnson* and its predecessors to guide it, the [district] court took a rather broad view of the public-duty doctrine. . . . We now clarify that ‘nonfeasance’ in the context of the public-duty doctrine does not mean that the City can install a sidewalk and never worry about maintaining it. . . .”). Therefore, *Fulps* did not discard the misfeasance/nonfeasance test. It reaffirmed it, and it clarified it so that the Doctrine's application would be more limited. So how did the court of appeals so fundamentally misread *Fulps*? By defective deductive reasoning.

In *Fulps*, this Court stated,

But the public-duty doctrine *generally* comes into play *only* when there is a confluence of two factors. First, the injury to the plaintiff was directly caused or inflicted by a third party or other independent force. Second, the plaintiff alleges a governmental entity or actor breached a uniquely governmental duty, usually, but not always, imposed by statute, rule, or ordinance to protect the plaintiff from the third party or other independent force.

956 N.W.2d at 473-474 (italics added). The court of appeals quoted this portion of *Fulps* as follows:

As *Fulps* confirmed, the public-duty doctrine “comes into play only when there is a confluence of two factors.” 956 N.W.2d at 473.

First, the injury to the plaintiff was directly caused or inflicted by a third party or other independent force. Second, the plaintiff alleges a governmental entity or actor breached a uniquely governmental duty, usually, but not always, imposed by statute, rule, or ordinance to protect the plaintiff from the third party or other independent force.

Id. at 473–74.

2021 WL 5458077, at *3. The court of appeals omitted the word “generally” before the phrase “comes into play.” So what is the big deal? Only one word is missing. The big deal is shown in court of appeals’ very next sentence: “If the answers to these questions are yes, then the public-duty doctrine applies.” *Id.* The one-word omission caused the court of appeals to misread the premise of *Fulps*, thereby leading to defective deductive reasoning.

The actual *Fulps* Court’s quote was simply an observation of some of the common circumstances where past cases have applied the Doctrine. It was not, as the court of appeals read it, the creation of a new rigid test that mandates the Doctrine’s application whenever those circumstances exist. This is confirmed by the context in which the quote was made. It is located in the part of the opinion where this Court attempted to synthesize the Doctrine with the long-standing “principle of municipal [sidewalk] liability.” 956 N.W.2d at 472. Immediately after quoting the Doctrine-based colloquialism, “a duty [owed by the

government] to all is a duty to none,” this Court rejected the accuracy of the colloquialism because it “does not get to the heart of the doctrine and may suggest a broader scope to the doctrine than our cases indicate it actually has.” *Id.* at 473. After a one-sentence aspirational statement about government comes the part that the court of appeals misquoted and misread. If this Court were going to create the new, precedent-wrecking, and rigid test attributed to it by the court of appeals, it would not have plopped it squarely in the middle of a discussion about how the Doctrine has been too broadly applied and should be more limited in its breadth.²

Even if the court of appeals’ new test is consistent with this Court’s Doctrine jurisprudence, the court of appeals still erred by finding that the second element of its new test was satisfied: that the duty breached by the Government Defendants was a “uniquely governmental duty.” Consistent with its other fact and procedural-based errors, the court of appeals mis-framed the question as whether “the construction of safe roadways [is] a ‘uniquely governmental duty to protect [Farrell] from the third party or other independent force.” 2021 WL

²The court of appeals’ defective deductive reasoning can be shown by the following. The premise, “All ravens are black birds,” does not support the (factually incorrect) statement that whenever a person sees a black bird then the bird must be a raven. Similarly, *Fulps*’ statement that the Doctrine generally applies only in certain limited circumstances (i.e., when a third-party directly causes the injury), does not support the court of appeals’ (factually incorrect) reading of *Fulps* as saying that whenever a third-party directly causes the injury, the Doctrine applies.

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