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

31:04-31:19).  Following up on Justice McDonald’s point, Justice 

Mansfield commented that the public-duty doctrine comes into play 

when there is third-party that causes the harm to a plaintiff that the 

government failed to do something about, whether the dredge operator 

in Estate of McFarlin v. State, 881 N.W.2d 51, 63 (Iowa 2016), or the 

property owner in Johnson v. Humboldt Cty., 913 N.W.2d 256, 258-

262 (Iowa 2018), or the inmates escaping Oakdale in Raas v. State, 729 

N.W.2d 444, 446 (Iowa 2007), or the driver that doesn’t see well in 

Kolbe v. State, 625 N.W.2d 721, 724-725 (Iowa 2001).  According to the 

comments by Justice Mansfield at oral argument in Fulps, the public-

duty doctrine never applies when the harm is caused by the 

government’s own instrumentality, such as it was in Breese v. City of 
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Burlington, 945 N.W.3d 12, 21 (Iowa 2020), where the bicyclist fell off 

a municipal sewer box.  (Comments by Justice Mansfield in Fulps oral 

argument, https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=arpd7EZBSUE at 

timestamp 21:02-22:02). 

 The instrumentality of harm was not a new concept to the public-

duty doctrine that was applied for the first time by the Court of Appeals 

in the case at bar.  Breese makes clear that the public duty doctrine 

applies when harm is caused by a third-party as compared to when 

harm is caused by the government’s instrumentality.  See Breese v. City 

of Burlington, 945 N.W.2d 12, 21 (Iowa 2020). 

What is clear is that we have generally applied the public-
duty doctrine when the allegation is a government failure 
to adequately enforce criminal or regulatory laws for the 
benefit of the general public, as in Raas, Kolbe, and 
Sankey, or a government failure to protect the general 
public from somebody else's instrumentality, as in 
Johnson and Estate of McFarlin. Compare Raas, 729 
N.W.2d at 446 and Kolbe, 625 N.W.2d at 724–25, and 
Sankey, 456 N.W.2d at 208–09, with Johnson, 913 
N.W.2d at 261, and Estate of McFarlin, 881 N.W.2d at 63. 

 
Id. 

 While the colloquy at oral argument in the Fulps case does not 

stand as precedent upon which the Court of Appeals could base its 

decision, it helps to establish that the instrumentality of harm is and 

has been a factor in the public-duty doctrine and consciously 
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considered by the Justices in rendering the Fulps decision.  See id.  The 

instrumentality of harm is simply not a creation of the Court of 

Appeals, as claimed by Plaintiffs, and its application is not in conflict 

with prior precedent.  (Further Review Application, pp. 19-24).  It was 

grounded in Fulps and earlier cases.  Fulps, 956 N.W.2d at 473-474, 

Breese, 945 N.W.2d at 21.  The Court of Appeals merely followed Iowa 

Supreme Court precedent.  See id., and, Est. of Farrell by Farrell, 2021 

WL 5458077, at *3.  It applied that precedent correctly, too.  See id.  

This case is the classic case where the public-duty doctrine applies.  See 

id. 

 Plaintiffs’ First Amended Petition alleges that Benjamin Beary 

made an incorrect turn on the Grand Prairie Parkway Interchange and 

traveled in a Westerly direction in the Eastbound lanes of Interstate 80 

and head-on into a vehicle in which Des Moines Police Officer, Susan 

Farrell, was a passenger.  (First Amended Petition, paras. 46-48).  As 

the Court of Appeals found, when applying the prior appellate 

decisions, the instrumentality starts and ends with Mr. Beary.  Est. of 

Farrell by Farrell, 2021 WL 5458077, at *3. 

 Plaintiffs have tried to bridge the asserted cause of Officer 

Farrell’s injuries to allegedly deficient signage, lighting, and roadway 
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markings on the Grand Prairie Parkway Interchange by creatively 

phrasing the failure to have these safety measures as misfeasance – 

that the Governmental Parties chose to open and failed to close the 

Interchange with those safety defects in place.  (First Amended 

Petition, paras. 36, 51, 52, 70, 71, 79).  Plaintiffs alleged that the Grand 

Prairie Parkway Interchange failed to have basic safety features (road 

markings, lighting, and signage) completed before opening the 

Interchange and failed to comply with then existing state-of-the art 

engineering safety standards, criteria, and design2.  (First Amended 

Petition, paras. 35, 36, 40, 42, 43).  Taken together, Plaintiffs’ 

allegations claim the Governmental Parties allegedly failed to protect 

one member of the general traveling public (Officer Farrell) from 

another member of the general traveling public (Mr. Beary) by failing 

to have basic safety features (road markings, lighting, and signage) 

completed before opening the Interchange and failing to comply with 

then existing state-of-the art engineering safety standards, criteria, 

and design.  (First Amended Petition, paras. 35, 36, 40, 42, 43, 46-48).  

 

2 It should be noted that the Governmental Parties dispute Plaintiffs’ 
allegations for all purposes other than for argument in this 
Resistance. 
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It is submitted that these allegations speak in terms of nonfeasance.  

See Breese, 945 N.W.2d 12, 19-20 (noting distinction between 

affirmative conduct by the governmental entity (misfeasance) and 

failing to prevent another from doing harm (nonfeasance)).  Such 

failures by the Governmental Parties are encompassed by the public-

duty doctrine.  See id. 

 In their Further Review Application, Plaintiffs essentially raise 

the same argument about misfeasance, but criticize the Court of 

Appeals for ignoring their efforts.  (Further Review Application, pp. 12-

13).  The Court of Appeals, however, properly rejected Plaintiffs’ effort 

to bridge the cause of Officer Farrell’s injuries to the alleged defects in 

the Grand Prairie Parkway Interchange as improperly requiring a 

foreseeability determination.  Est. of Farrell by Farrell, 2021 WL 

5458077, at *4.  In this regard, the Court of Appeals reasoned: 

Because the public-duty doctrine hinges on a no-duty 
determination, the legal question of its application should 
be based on “articulated policies or principles that justify 
exempting an actor from liability” and should not “depend 
on foreseeability of harm based on the specific facts of a 
case.” See Restatement (Third) of Torts: Liab. for Physical 
& Emotional Harm § 7 cmts. i, j (Am. Law Inst. 2010); cf. 
Thompson v. Kaczinski, 774 N.W.2d 829, 835 (Iowa 2009) 
(“A goal of the Restatement (Third) was to clear away prior 
confusion between the duty determination and the 
negligence determination.”). Here, [Plaintiffs’] complaints 
depend upon a foreseeability determination that the design 
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of the Interchange lead to the collision with the drunk 
driver. That exercise cannot be utilized in a no-duty 
determination, thus the instrumentality of harm analysis is 
properly employed. 
 

Id. 

 The Court of Appeals was right to reject Plaintiffs’ efforts to 

interject a foreseeability determination into the analysis of the public-

duty doctrine.  The public-duty doctrine is an exception to the general 

rule that “[a]n actor ordinarily has a duty to exercise reasonable care 

when the actor's conduct creates a risk of physical harm.”  See Estate 

of McFarlin, 881 N.W.2d at 59-60, Thompson v. Kaczinski, 774 

N.W.2d 829, 834 (Iowa 2009), and Restatement (Third) of Torts: 

Liability for Physical and Emotional Harm, § 7(a) at 90).  “In 

exceptional cases, when an articulated countervailing principle or 

policy warrants denying or limiting liability in a particular class of 

cases, a court may decide that the defendant has no duty or that the 

ordinary duty of reasonable care requires modification.”  See 

Thompson, 774 N.W.2d at 834 (citing Restatement (Third) of Torts: 

Liability for Physical and Emotional Harm, § 7(b) at 90). 

A no-duty ruling represents a determination, a purely legal 
question, that no liability should be imposed on actors in a 
category of cases. Such a ruling should be explained and 
justified based on articulated policies or principles that 
justify exempting these actors from liability or modifying 
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the ordinary duty of reasonable care. These reasons of 
policy and principle do not depend on the foreseeability of 
harm based on the specific facts of a case. They should be 
articulated directly without obscuring references to 
foreseeability. 

 
Restatement (Third) of Torts: Liability for Physical and Emotional 

Harm, § 7 cmt. i.  As a no-duty rule, the public-duty doctrine has been 

held to have continued vitality under the Restatement (Third) of Torts.  

Estate of McFarlin, 881 N.W.2d at 60. 

 Plaintiffs suggest that the Court of Appeals improperly 

considered background facts not alleged in Plaintiffs’ First Amended 

Petition to arrive at its decision to apply the public-duty doctrine.  

(Application for Further Review, pp. 12-19).  The argument seems 

disingenuous. 

 Plaintiffs attempted to bolster the factual record beyond the well-

pleaded facts contained in their First Amended Petition by providing 

the Court of Appeals with numerous exhibits contained in the 

Appendix.  (Plaintiffs’ Designation of Additional Parts of the Appendix; 

Appendix pp. 7-312 (20 separate exhibits).  The Governmental Parties 

noted that effort in their Final Brief and distinguished between the 

additional background facts from Plaintiffs’ exhibits in the Appendix 
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from those well-pleaded facts in the First Amended Petition.  

(Governmental Parties Final Brief, pp. 26-31). 

 The Court of Appeals noted the background facts, but wisely 

made its decision on the crux allegation that Benjamin Beary made an 

incorrect turn on the Grand Prairie Parkway Interchange and traveled 

in a Westerly direction in the Eastbound lanes of Interstate 80 and 

head-on into a vehicle in which Des Moines Police Officer, Susan 

Farrell, was a passenger, causing her death.  (First Amended Petition, 

paras. 46-49).  That allegation contained within Plaintiffs’ First 

Amended Petition, alone, substantiates the Court of Appeals decision 

to apply the public-duty doctrine. 

 Whether Mr. Beary was traveling too fast or was intoxicated is 

inconsequential.  The injury to Officer Farrell was directly caused by a 

third-party (Mr. Beary) and Plaintiffs alleged a breach of unique 

governmental duty to protect the one member of the general traveling 

public (Officer Farrell) from another member of the traveling public 

(Mr. Beary) by failing to have basic safety features (road markings, 

lighting, and signage) completed before opening the Grand Prairie 

Parkway Interchange and failing to comply with the state-of-the-art 

engineering safety standards, criteria, and design.  (First Amended 
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Petition, paras. 35, 36, 42, 43, 46-48).  See Fulps, 956 N.W.2d at 473-

474.  Even if the Court of Appeals considered the additional 

background facts pertaining to Mr. Beary’s state of intoxication and 

vehicle speed, it amounts to nothing but harmless error because the 

First Amended Petition asserts that Mr. Beary collided with the vehicle 

in which Officer Farrell was riding and she expired at the scene.  See, 

e.g., Hamilton v. O'Donnell, 367 N.W.2d 293, 295 (Iowa Ct. App. 1985) 

(harmless error regarding hearsay statement when other facts 

considered). 

 The well-pleaded allegations in Plaintiffs’ First Amended 

Petition allege a failure of the Governmental Parties to protect Officer 

Farrell, a member of the general traveling public, from somebody else’s 

instrumentality of harm (Mr. Beary).  See id., Breese v. City of 

Burlington, 945 N.W.2d 12, 18 (Iowa 2020) (citing Johnson v. 

Humboldt Cty., 913 N.W.2d 256, at 261 (Iowa 2018), Estate of 

McFarlin, 881 N.W.2d at 63, Raas v. 799 N.W.2d 444, 446 (Iowa 

2007), Kolbe v. State, 625 N.W.2d 721, 724-25 (Iowa 2001), Sankey v. 

Richenberger, 456 N.W. 206, 208-209 (Iowa 1990).  This is the classic 

case where the public-duty doctrine applies.  See id. and Fulps, 956 

N.W.2d at 475.  “The public-duty doctrine is properly understood as a 
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limit on suing a governmental entity for not protecting the public from 

harm caused by the activities of a third party.”  Fulps, 956 N.W.2d at 

475. 

 In their Application for Further Review, Plaintiffs improperly 

reframe the foreseeability issue as one of causation that should be left 

to the jury.  (Further Review Application, e.g., pp. 11, 14-15, 21-22).  

However, causation of Officer Farrell’s injury has been definitively pled 

by Plaintiffs in their First Amended Petition – Benjamin Beary collided 

with the vehicle in which Officer Farrell was riding.  (First Amended 

Petition, paras. 46-48).  The Court of Appeals properly rejected 

Plaintiffs’ invitation to engage in a foreseeability analysis and consider 

the alleged defects in the Grand Prairie Parkway Interchange.  See id., 

and, Est. of Farrell by Farrell, 2021 WL 5458077, at *4.  (Plaintiffs’ 

Final Brief, e.g., pp. 59-61).  Such considerations are improper when 

making a no-duty determination, such as with the public-duty 

doctrine.  See id. 

 In their Further Review Application, Plaintiffs also claim error by 

the Court of Appeals in holding that the Governmental Parties had a 

unique governmental duty.  (Further Review Application, pp. 24-25).  

See Fulps, 956 N.W.3d at 473-74 (second factor of the public-duty 
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doctrine – that “the plaintiff alleges a governmental entity or actor 

breached a uniquely governmental duty, usually, but not always, 

imposed by statute, rule, or ordinance to protect the plaintiff from the 

third party or other independent force.”).  In this regard, the Court of 

Appeals succinctly and properly held: 

Then, as to the second question, is the construction of safe 
roadways a “uniquely governmental duty ... to protect 
[Officer Farrell] from the third party or other independent 
force,” we again look to our case law precedent. In 
instances involving the public roadways, the state's safety-
related duties are owed to the general public. See Johnson, 
913 N.W.2d at 261 (confirming that public-duty doctrine 
applies even when highway safety is involved as the duty to 
remove obstructions from a right-of-way corridor adjacent 
to the highway is a duty owed to all users of the public 
road); see also Estate of McFarlin v. State, 881 N.W.2d 51, 
58–63 (Iowa 2016) (holding the State's safety-related 
duties at the public lake open to everyone were owed to the 
general public and thus, “there is no liability to an 
individual member of that group”). 

 
Est. of Farrell by Farrell, 2021 WL 5458077, at *3.  Faced with the 

existing precedent establishing governmental duties owed to the 

traveling public in general, for which the public-duty doctrine applies, 

Plaintiffs argue that the Governmental Parties are ineligible for the 

public-duty no-duty determination because they constructed the 

Grand Prairie Parkway Interchange in their corporate/private capacity 
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instead of their public/governmental capacity.  (Further Review 

Application, pp. 24-25). 

 Plaintiffs’ First Amended Petition does not seem to allege that 

the Governmental Parties acted in anything other than their 

public/governmental role.  (First Amended Petition, paras. 7-9 

(identifying the Iowa as a state in the United States and City of Waukee 

and City of West Des Moines as Iowa municipalities)).  The First 

Amended Petition does not allege that the Governmental Parties acted 

in their corporate/private capacity.  (First Amended Petition).  In 

contrast, the First Amended Petition asserts that the other contractor 

defendants were named as Iowa or foreign corporations (presumably 

in their corporate capacity).  (First Amended Petition, paras. 10-15).  

The First Amended Petition alleges that the Governmental Parties 

secured millions of dollars in funding for the Interchange from the 

federal government.  (First Amended Petition, para. 23).  It also alleged 

that the Interchange was opened to the public.  (First Amended 

Petition, para. 43).  In other words, the Interchange was a public 

improvement undertaken by a governmental entity.  As held by the 

Court of Appeals, the public-duty doctrine has been held to apply to 

highway safety and safety-related duties owed to the general-public.  
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See Johnson, 913 N.W.2d at 261, and, Estate of McFarlin, 881 N.W.2d 

at 58-63; Est. of Farrell by Farrell, 2021 WL 5458077, at *3.  The 

Governmental Parties’ safety-related duties in relation to public 

roadways, which are owed to the general public.  See id., and, Johnson, 

913 N.W.2d at 261 (analogizing boaters on a public-lake to motorists 

driving on public roadways – the governmental duties for which being 

owed to the general public).  Further review would provide no change 

to the law in this regard and should not be considered on this basis. 

 The Court of Appeals decision is not in direct conflict with or 

overrules the decisions of this Court.  See Iowa R. Civ. P. 

6.1103(1)(b)(1).  The Court of Appeals decision is consistent with Fulps 

and its predecessor cases.  See id.  At its core, this is a straightforward 

case in which the well-pleaded facts in Plaintiffs’ First Amended

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